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				Foreword

				VANCOUVERITES have always known that they live in a unique and stunning setting, surrounded by the sea, mountains and Fraser River, along with lush forests, parks and foreshores brimming with varied flora and fauna. Creating a built environment that complements and responds to this richness has been a challenge for architects and city planners—a process that’s seen growing pains and close calls along the way. In Exploring Vancouver, Harold Kalman, Robin Ward and John Roaf show how this fascinating history has been encapsulated in the young city’s diverse architecture and how bold, visionary decisions have prevailed, allowing Vancouver to take its place at the forefront of livability and urban sustainability. Vancouver may not be the first city to come to mind when one considers the world’s iconic structures, but to study its architecture is to look into both its past and its future. As this book deftly shows, the mix of neighbourhoods, from historic Gastown and Chinatown to revitalized False Creek and ever-changing West End, and the mix of buildings within those neighbourhoods, are a consequence of policy decisions. These include triumphs—like the creation of Stanley Park, requested of the federal government by Vancouver’s very first city council—as well as missteps—such as the short-sighted building codes that led to the “leaky condo crisis” of the 1990s.

				One such disaster was narrowly avoided: in the 1960s, when I was a long-haired (sigh!) storefront lawyer, I worked with Chinatown merchants, Strathcona residents and other citizens to fight a proposed freeway that would have destroyed some of Vancouver’s most characteristic neighbourhoods—from Gastown and Chinatown to Strathcona, the Grandview Woodlands and Hastings-Sunrise—and wiped out the waterfront as we know it. Our campaign to stop the freeway came to define what Vancouverites value. Today Vancouver is the only major city in North America without a major freeway going through it; our central city area has 140,000 residents, three-quarters of whom take transit, cycle, walk or telecommute instead of driving a car.

				When I became mayor, my tenure was dominated by planning for Expo 86, and we successfully turned a potential $600 million deficit (the same size per capita as the Montreal 1976 Olympic deficit) into a boom in tourism and trade and a big success for Vancouver’s citizens. In the lead-up to the event, we built important permanent infrastructure, such as Canada Place, Science World, a redeveloped north shore of False Creek and the Expo SkyTrain line. More recently, Vancouver built upon that experience of hosting the world, and the 2010 Olympic Winter Games gained us the expanded Trade and Convention Centre, the Canada Line, as well as new and rennovated sports facilities that will serve generations to come.

				In my years of public service, I’ve witnessed the city evolve to embrace a planning philosophy that has come to be known as “Vancouverism”—multi-use, high-density core areas; a transit-focused transportation system; and thoughtful urban design that serves our spectacular natural setting and our vibrant, multicultural population—now a model for urban centres the world over. Over the coming decades, Vancouver has the opportunity to become a mecca for urban sustainability as we grapple with population growth, global warming and peak oil. Exploring Vancouver points to these challenges, while celebrating the city’s history and its achievements, and I look forward to seeing the rich architectural and urban legacy that this progress will bring.

				
				MIKE HARCOURT

			

		

	
		
			
				Introduction

				“The magic city which grew out of a forest whose trees were taller than our monumental buildings.” 

				MAJOR J.S. MATTHEWS (1878–1970), Vancouver’s first city archivist

				VANCOUVER was incorporated on April 6, 1886. Two months later, the Great Fire destroyed the original logging settlement, established after European maritime exploration in the late eighteenth century revealed abundant natural resources to a wider world. The city arose from that calamitous foundation, evolving as a multicultural metropolis, envied as one of the world’s most livable and for its glorious natural setting. It is not generally known for its architecture.

				Exploring Vancouver reveals the architecture and urbanism of the city, its history and the people and the society that made it. The story of the city’s development is one of creation and reinvention—by British, Eastern Canadian and American opportunists in the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries, through the post-WWII modernists, to the present crusade for livability and sustainability. The book also looks at a selection of old and new architecture of the municipalities that surround Vancouver.

				Early settlers erected sawmills, stores, saloons and churches on First Nations territory. The opening of the transcontinental railway terminus in 1887 diversified the economy and boosted development. During Vancouver’s first three-quarters of a century, architecture was mainly institutional or commercial and traditional in approach. Ambitious cultural buildings and innovative design are products of the modern era, when postwar prosperity and confidence shook off the last threads of pioneering and Depression-era austerity and colonial conformity.

				When the previous (third) edition of Exploring Vancouver was published in 1993, the high-spirited, Art Deco Marine Building was still prominent on the waterfront. Today, it is hemmed in by new towers, part of a building boom that was the result of a unique conflation of events, including the sale by the provincial government of the Expo 86 site on False Creek to Hong Kong industrialist Li Ka-shing and the Canadian Pacific Railway’s redevelopment of Coal Harbour. Consequent planning and construction have seen forests of residential high-rises shoot up on and around the downtown peninsula. New neighbourhoods, particularly False Creek and Coal Harbour, have been built out in a manner admired internationally as “Vancouverism,” an ideology of dense but civilized urbanism, exported as a template for utopias worldwide. That radical transformation to the cityscape motivated this new edition.

				Vancouver is at a turning point, as its citizens face challenges of sustainability in an era of global turmoil and climate change. Architecture—from basic shelter to iconic public buildings—is fundamental to how we deal with them. Global investment and the increasing population of the city raise issues of suburban sprawl and density, provision of public amenities, transit and the desire to respect the natural setting. Another concern is the loss of industrial land, rezoned for residential use. While the Port of Metro Vancouver is an exception, many industries have relocated to the suburbs near highways. This trend may be reversed because of the rising cost of fuel, and to attract a skilled young workforce that is drawn to city life. Downtown Vancouver is now largely residential—dubbed a “resort” by some commentators—as new towers are built and old ones adapted to housing. Green technologies and urban farming present architects with opportunities for mixed-use typologies, and communities and planners the question of unconventional zoning to accommodate them.

				Achieving “a compact metropolitan region” was the central vision in Metro Vancouver’s Livable Region Strategic Plan of 1996, which puts the burden on the City of Vancouver and the inner suburbs to increase allowable heights and floor areas. The City canonized this densification with a sustainability overlay in its EcoDensity Charter of 2008. Vancouver, often thought of as superficial, is now seriously eco-friendly. Many contemporary buildings (and rehabilitations of old ones) adapt the latest architectural trends to the regional context in pursuit of LEED (Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design) certification, an international rating of green building technology.

				The drive towards densification creates enormous pressure for redevelopment. There is some recognition that the sustainable building is also the one that is not torn down, an idea that assists heritage conservation. Heritage awareness was fought for at a grassroots level when a downtown freeway was opposed in the 1960s. Since then, municipal planners have introduced innovative heritage incentive programs, with zoning relaxations, infill and the transfer of density linked to an interventionist stance regarding new development.

				A pressing heritage challenge is recognition and retention of the regional modernism of the postwar era—the West Coast style—an architectural culture that is particular, if not unique, to Vancouver. Its humanity, sensitivity to architectural space and to landscape have a strong lineage that, despite globalization, remains vital. It is mainly residential, but its ethos—taken to extremes of concrete monumentality in Arthur Erickson’s visionary urbanism—has been robust enough to resist a trend seen elsewhere: to jet in “starchitects” to solve urban dilemmas.

				Some architects have added “planning and urban design” to their portfolios, an attempt to claim or reclaim aesthetic territory invaded by city planners, whose showpiece is Vancouverism. The latter has delivered the urbanism intended, but it may not be a suitable model to face future complexities of sustainability, patterns of settlement and affordability. Complexity will force more physical change in Vancouver. What form will that take? Organic infill, laneway housing, retrofits to the thousands of Vancouver Specials and hundreds of postwar commercial high-rises, Euro-style courtyard blocks, or the hyper-density of Hong Kong? The buildings selected for this book, each with its own social, sustainability or historical message, suggest many options.

				THIS BOOK’S fourteen chapters are organized as tours of the city’s neighbourhoods and nearby suburbs, for walking, cycling or driving. Each entry features a photograph, along with building names, street addresses, architects and the date of completion (engineers and landscape architects are cited where their contribution is especially evident). Significant modifications are noted. Many entries also refer to buildings of interest nearby, which are highlighted in the text. The primary entries are keyed to maps, and the area covered by each chapter is shown on a map of Metro Vancouver (page 5). Readers are advised that, while private buildings can be viewed and photographed from the public roadway, and public ones entered, they should not trespass on private property. Notable buildings obscured by landscapes have been omitted; interiors are rarely mentioned unless they are open to the public.

				The buildings—old and new, many changed over time—were chosen for their architectural or historical excellence, or because they represent trends in design, development and society. They reveal much about the people who built them and the communities where they are found—this is a book about neighbourhoods as much as it is of a metropolis. The selection reveals the authors’ awareness of the larger environment, the spaces implied between the entries, the landscape, the views, the streets, the people.

				The text often cites styles, both “high” styles used by architects, past and present (e.g., Tudor Revival, modernism) and “vernacular” types built in quantity by contractors (e.g., Craftsman, Vancouver Special). The difference between the two is often blurred. A glossary of potentially unfamiliar architectural terms, including styles, appears at the back of the book.

				We wish to thank friends and colleagues who helped the preparation of this book: John Atkin, Trevor Boddy, Janet Collins, Don Harrison, David O’Laney, Anne Lee, Donald Luxton, Susan Medville, Ron Phillips, Peter and Elise Roaf, Tanya Southcott, Kate Swatek, Diane Switzer, Margaret Twohig and Cheryl Wu. Special thanks to our publisher, Scott McIntyre, editor Iva Cheung, and art director Peter Cocking. Also the many architects, city and heritage planners, building owners and managers, and authorities who provided information about or images for buildings in Exploring Vancouver.

			
				
					[image: vanregion-07-01.eps]
				

			

		

	
		
			
				
					[image: 71315.jpg]
				

                Gastown and the Downtown Eastside

				
				A BRONZE statue at Water and Carrall Streets—“Maple Tree Square”—depicts “Gassy Jack” Deighton, a loquacious English-born mariner and riverboat skipper on the Fraser River who moved to Burrard Inlet in 1867 and opened a saloon here. The small logging community came to be known as “Gastown,” after him. The saloon served workers at nearby Hastings Mill, established in 1865 to process timber from the vast forest that once covered present-day Vancouver. It became the focus of a budding settlement, which the colonial government surveyed in 1870 and officially called “Granville” for the British colonial secretary, Earl Granville.

				
				The settlement’s future was secured when William Cornelius Van Horne, general manager of the Canadian Pacific Railway, decided in 1886 to extend the tracks from Port Moody to a terminus just west of here (H28). Van Horne is credited with naming the transcontinental terminus “Vancouver,” to honour the Royal Navy’s Captain George Vancouver, who charted the inlet in 1792.

				The rudimentary community (population around a thousand) was incorporated as the City of Vancouver on April 6, 1886, and promptly destroyed two months later by the “Great Fire,” caused by forest-clearing burn-off blowing out of control. The settlement was rebuilt with brick- and stone-faced, timber-framed hotels, stores and warehouses that reflected the growth of the young shipping and commercial centre that would soon eclipse Victoria. The Klondike Gold Rush at the end of the century added distinguished architecture, much of which survived changing patterns of trade, transport and industry that caused Gastown’s gradual decline.

				In 1885, a new street grid was laid out west of Cambie Street by CPR surveyor Lauchlan Hamilton. His deviation from the survey of 1870, best seen at Victory Square, still marks the urban frontier between the new and old downtowns, much of the latter now dismissed as the Downtown Eastside (DTES). Centred along Hastings Street from Cambie to Main, the DTES had been the city’s early commercial centre. Its architecture exhibits past prosperity. Decades of economic decline and neglect left Gastown and the DTES a shambles assaulted by chronic social problems.

				Gastown’s revitalization began in the late 1960s, when citizen protest cancelled a planned freeway that threatened the area, and community action led to some old buildings being rehabilitated. The provincial government responded by declaring it and adjacent Chinatown as protected historic districts in 1971. Public realm “beautification” encouraged building improvements and tourism. The City was also motivated to clean up the district’s hippie-era reputation, when its warehouses offered cheap rents and allegedly concealed illegal activities. The 1971 “Gastown Riot” (commemorated in an artwork in the Woodward’s atrium) followed arrests by police undercover drug squads.

				Despite change, homelessness, drugs and despair prevail in the Downtown Eastside. A catalyst for the long-awaited solution is the momentous Woodward’s redevelopment (A25), an innovative project that seeks to break social barriers. It also breaks physical ones, with two high-rise towers in a historic setting. Woodward’s is a big fix for the Downtown Eastside, but smaller creative enterprise is introducing edgy retail and chic residential conversions, to the concern of many low-income residents.

				Non-conformist behaviour—and the present social tensions in the Downtown Eastside—are rooted in Vancouver’s origin as a logging settlement and seaport and to the individualism that founded its most popular early building: Gassy Jack’s saloon. Today, the site of the saloon could not be further removed from the spirit of the past: it is now a polished Gastown heritage conversion that mixes hip retail and loft-style dwellings.
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				A1 Byrnes Block

				2 Water Street

				Elmer H. Fisher 1887; 1969; Acton Ostry Architects, Donald Luxton & Associates 2010
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				“Gassy Jack” Deighton, for whom Gastown is named, built a saloon in 1867 on this site on Maple Tree Square, Vancouver’s first outdoor public space. The present building was erected by realtor George Byrnes after the Great Fire of 1886. The Victorian Italianate frills—ornate window surrounds, top-floor pilasters and decorative cornice—announced it as someplace special. It was first occupied by the Alhambra Hotel, one of the few charging more than a dollar a night, justified by its claim to be “Vancouver’s most modern . . . with running water and a wood stove in most rooms.” The accommodation later dropped a few notches when it became the city’s first courthouse and jail (the name “Gaoler’s Mews” for the courtyard records this).

				Architect Fisher, who claimed to have been born in Edinburgh and to have fought in the American Civil War, arrived in Victoria in 1886 by way of the American West and established a busy office. He then opened offices in Port Townsend and Seattle, exploiting the opportunity set by the latter’s fire of 1889, and designed that city’s finest Romanesque Revival work, the Pioneer Building (1892).

				The Byrnes Block has twice played a vital role in the revitalization of Gastown. Developer Larry Killam rehabilitated it in 1969, inspiring other property owners to give their dreary, run-down buildings facelifts and the City to upgrade the public realm. Some forty years later, renewed confidence in the district was shown by developer Robert Fung, who reinvested in the Byrnes Block/Alhambra Hotel and its four western neighbours—the Cordage Building (c. 1890) and Nagle Brothers Garage (12 Water Street, the latter by McCarter & Nairne 1930, originally two storeys), the Grand Hotel (26 Water Street, c. 1890), and the bay-windowed Terminus Hotel (30 Water Street, Bunning & Kelso 1886) which had been gutted by fire in 1998.

				The stylish package included conservation, seismic upgrading, geothermal heating and salvaged building materials. Underground parking, retail and forty-six residential units (including new penthouse floors) added profitable density. At the rear, the elevations are contemporary (their height difference indicates the original lots). They face Blood Alley Square, created as part of an earlier heritage project that linked Gaoler’s Mews to Cordova Street with a passage through the Stanley Hotel (21 West Cordova Street, c. 1907; rehabilitated by Henriquez & Todd 1971).

				A2 Ferguson Block

				6 Powell Street

				William Tuff Whiteway 1887
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				Victorian Italianate with a trace of the frontier, this building was constructed for Alfred Graham Ferguson, a CPR tunnel contractor–turned-developer. It was one of the first masonry buildings erected after the Great Fire, which destroyed the pioneer settlement of Granville—a.k.a. Gastown—and its wood buildings (including Ferguson’s on this site) in twenty minutes. The fire started in Yaletown, where CPR crews were clearing land for the Roundhouse (G20). Hastings Mill (C19), east of Gastown, was spared, and its manpower and lumber aided swift rebuilding. The new Ferguson Block became a focus for that effort because it housed the CPR land office, with the City Magistrate’s law office upstairs (it was extended south in 1889). Like other post-fire buildings, its structural materials were timber, stone and brick. Whiteway, a Newfoundlander, had his name carved on the cornerstone.

				A3 Dunn Block

				1 Alexander Street

				N.S. Hoffar 1900
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				Merchant Thomas Dunn, an alderman on the first Vancouver City Council, expanded his “Headquarters for Klondike Supplies” from the pedimented Lonsdale Block (8–28 West Cordova Street, N.S. Hoffar 1889) to this Romanesque Revival warehouse. The attic made it three and a half storeys, supported on interior columns. The rear portion was built at the same time; the east addition 1907. The building housed the office of the Union Steamship Company, whose dock was at the foot of Carrall Street.

				Vancouver’s pioneer architects were mostly a nomadic and opportunistic lot. Hoffar was typical. Born and educated in Washington, D.C., he mined in Nevada, learned the building trades in San Francisco and worked his way up the West Coast before settling in Vancouver in 1886. Here he found opportunity and a good supply of clients after the Great Fire.

				A4 Europe Hotel

				43 Powell Street

				Parr & Fee 1909; Adolph Ingre & Associates 1983
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				The hotel sails into this intersection like a ship parting a sea of traffic. It was built to a triangular “flatiron” plan for Italian-born proprietor Angelo Calori, whose name is above the entrance. The cornice caps six rather than the eight storeys intended. The contractor was the Ferro-Concrete Construction Company from Cincinnati, Ohio; this was the first reinforced-concrete building in Vancouver. Glass blocks on the sidewalks lighted “areaways,” which added space. They were filled with gravel by City Engineering in a 1990s safety campaign, lest trucks mount and collapse the sidewalk. Once noted for its palatial bar, the Europe was a decrepit rooming house when the Canada Mortgage & Housing Corporation stepped in to renovate it for affordable housing. Heritage features include a floridly tiled lobby, Ionic-columned window mullions on the curved prow and the conspicuous cornice. Calori’s adjoining, earlier Europe Hotel (49–51 Powell Street, 1886; 1890; Adolph Ingre & Associates 1983), has twin, vaguely Venetian elevations, one on Powell, the other on Alexander Street. Enlarged westward in 1890, it was retained as the new Europe’s annex.

				A5 100-block Alexander Street

				c. 1900–1912; 1990–2000
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				Short, medium and tall warehouse façades lined the north side of this block for almost a century. The streetscape was so convincingly of the past that the producers of the 1994 movie Legends of the Fall hardly needed to dress it as a stand-in for Helena, Montana, c. 1910. The film could not be shot here now. Only the Captain French Building (41 Alexander Street, Parr & Fee 1909; Paul Merrick Architects 1990), named for its first owner, a tugboat skipper, retained its original height during loft conversions on the block.

				There is a contextual justification for add-on lofts: extra floors were fitted to many of Gastown’s buildings during the Edwardian economic boom. Additions increase density, an aspect of the City’s heritage management that evolved after the provincial government, at the City’s request, designated Gastown a historic district in 1971. That led to renovations and streetscape improvements. Planners have since tried to balance conservation with the commercial investment and changes of use that keep the buildings alive. Contemporary interventions are now accepted behind historic façades.

				A6 Inform Interiors

				50 Water Street

				1906; Busby + Associates Architects 2005
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				In a Gastown that is trendy, Inform Interiors is a design-led symbol of continuity. Its Danish-born designer, Niels Bendtsen, opened a store in the district in 1970. His modernist furniture, crafted in a converted warehouse on Railway Street (C20) four blocks east, continues a manufacturing tradition in Gastown that goes back to the nineteenth century. This showroom for owners Niels and Nancy Bendtsen retains the cornice, concrete blocks (cast to look like stone) and storefront I-beam from the Kane Building, as the structure was first known. A green roof has been added. Designer and project architect Omer Arbel introduced concrete floors and columns (to replace wooden posts), and a skylight to illuminate the see-through showroom’s contemporary furniture and twentieth-century design classics. An elegant new stair structure is poised in the centre of the showroom.

				A7 Malkin Building

				55 Water Street

				Parr & Fee 1907; John Macfarlane McLuckie 1912; Merrick Architecture 2002
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				Wholesale grocery magnate and sometime mayor of Vancouver William Harold Malkin built this brick-clad, Douglas-fir-framed structure—his third warehouse on Water Street in a decade of thriving business (his previous, smaller warehouses are at 353 and 141 Water Street—see A9). The building was extended to the east in matching style, doubling the floor space. This part of Water Street was the hub of grocery distribution until the 1930s, when many of these big buildings were taken over by the garment trade. Rehabilitation as live–work studios by developer Jon Stovell’s Reliance Properties included a seismic upgrade, an under-ground parkade and a lofty glazed retail space on an empty lot to the west.

				A8 Gaslight Square

				131 Water Street

				Henriquez & Todd 1975
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				The CPR’s Marathon Realty developed this infill site, a concession to a revitalized Gastown after their Project 200 (A17) urban renewal scheme in the late 1960s failed. Project 200 caused “planning blight,” as building owners were unwilling to maintain properties likely to be torn down. Gaslight Square, the first new building to recognize Gastown’s historic character, gave a lesson in how to stitch the district together.

				Early postmodern with a façade rendered at its western edge as a faux false front, it is a reinterpretation of the Wild West–style false fronts on the wooden buildings destroyed in the Great Fire. The use of brick is contextual; bay windows echo those on the Terminus Hotel (A1). Behind the façade, a modernist glazed roof slides away to a split-level courtyard with retail and offices. Across the street, Gastown Parkade (150 Water Street, Paul Smith 1971; Henriquez Partners Architects 2005), originally part of Project 200, was rebuilt with contextual elevations, to fit the streetscape’s historic character.

				A9 First Malkin Warehouse

				141 Water Street

				c. 1898; c. 1903; Paul Merrick Architects 1996
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				Water Street is aptly named: the backs of the first warehouses on its north side were supported on wooden piles along the shoreline. Boardwalks connected to a CPR trestle above the water on the tidal strip parallel to the street, allowing freight to be off-loaded from boxcar to building. The back of this block was built on piles. Its loading bays faced tracks laid when the trestle was dismantled and the land reclaimed around 1900. Three east bays were added (the Klondike boom saw many structures in Gastown enlarged). A condo rehab included mansard-roofed lofts, set back, sensitive to the streetscape.

				A10 Leckie Building

				170 Water Street/220 Cambie Street

				Dalton & Eveleigh 1909; 1913; Vladimir Vit, Gower Yeung & Associates engineers 1991

				
					[image: A10_LeckieBuildingCMYK.tif]
				

				Around 1900, Vancouver overtook Victoria as B.C.’s main trading centre. Canneries, mineral strikes (particularly the gold in the Klondike) and logging operations were supplied from, and many products manufactured, here. The Leckie Building is a symbol of that commerce because its owner made what every logger needs: a sturdy pair of boots. John Leckie, a Scottish immigrant, founded the company whose boots were “The Best in the West,” so a rooftop sign claimed. The building, framed with cedar posts and beams behind load-bearing brick-and-masonry walls, was converted to offices by Novam Development, which pioneered warehouse makeovers in Vancouver. The work included a seismic upgrade, unique in the city at the time. Steelwork anchored in concrete 27 metres below grade braces the structure; two tension rods crossing diagonally on each elevation were exposed to allow the ingenuity to be seen.

				A11 Edward Hotel

				302 Water Street

				1906

				
					[image: A11_EdwardHotelLayersCMYK.tif]
				

				The CPR in Vancouver connected to the company’s coastal and trans-Pacific shipping routes. Its train station (H28) and piers were built on the western edge of Gastown. Almost as many hotels were built in the district as there are warehouses. The Edward replaced the wood-frame Regina Hotel, one of the few buildings saved during the Great Fire. Romanesque lingers in the rusticated stone bands on the elevations here, but the feel is Italianate, almost like a miniature palazzo (with a sheet-metal cornice). Prestige was sought with façades clad completely in stone, expensive and uncommon. The ground floor retains its cast-iron columns, I-beam headers with cast rosettes and storefront articulation and glazing. A bistro continues the tradition of hospitality.

				A12 Gastown Steam Clock

				Water and Cambie Streets

				1977
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				Horologer Raymond Saunders and metal-work specialist Doug Smith (at the Vancouver Technical School) designed and fabricated this faux-antique, allegedly steam-powered clock, funded as a business improvement to put Gastown on the tourist map. Only the whistle, which toots the chimes of Big Ben, is activated by steam. The steam is generated at Central Heat Distribution’s plant (720 Beatty Street) and delivered by underground pipes, a network that also heats many buildings downtown. The adjacent globe-clustered street lamp is of nineteenth-century design, introduced as a “heritage” feature in Gastown in the 1970s.

				A13 Hudson House

				321 Water Street

				Charles Osborn Wickenden 1894; 1903; Werner Forster 1977
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				This former Hudson’s Bay Company fur and liquor warehouse—and the Greenshields Building across the alley (341–345 Water Street, 1902; 2004)—symbolize Canada’s pioneering westward expansion. The HBC’s fur traders opened the West; other merchants followed, particularly after the CPR was completed. Wholesaler Greenshields was founded in Montreal and expanded west; the Water Street warehouse is attributed to J.H. Cadham, architect of the company’s building in Winnipeg.

				The HBC warehouse was enlarged by two storeys, added after the Klon-dike boom. Their arched windows sprang from the existing piers; twin pediments were aligned vertically with the street entrances. Both buildings were inspired by the Marshall Field Wholesale Store (1887), a now-demolished Chicago landmark, which was designed by Henry Hobson Richardson, the master of the Romanesque Revival in America. The repetitive arch-and-spandrel window treatment here is characteristic of the style; so too the shallow, corbelled cornices and the rusticated and carved stonework, especially at sidewalk level. The Greenshields Building’s carved capitals, representing indigenous and immigrant peoples, are particularly fine.

				A14 The Landing

				375 Water Street

				William Tuff Whiteway 1905; Soren Rasmussen 1988
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				Robert Kelly and Frank Douglas formed Kelly, Douglas & Company in 1896. It supplied Klondike gold rush prospectors, became known for its Nabob-brand tea and coffee and grew to be one of the biggest grocers in the Lower Mainland. This building, enlarged to the west within a few years, was the largest produce warehouse in the country. It was timber framed. Steel-frame (A19, A23) and reinforced-concrete construction (A4) soon superseded wood for buildings of this size and larger. The McLean Group rehabilitated it as offices, shops, restaurants and a brew pub, with a picture window inserted in the north wall to open up views of the harbour and North Shore.

				A15 Holland Block

				364 Water Street

				1891
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				The street grid of downtown Vancouver, laid out after a survey by the CPR’s Lauchlan Hamilton in 1885, joined that of the Granville townsite at an angle. The shift between the two grids is visible in the flatiron shape of the Holland Block, built for developer James M. Holland at the western entrance to Gastown. The style is Italianate in the San Francisco manner, with a projecting roof, originally curved above corner bay windows, which flow back on both façades. The storefronts are framed in cast iron, with the B.C. Ironworks trademark on the base of the columns.

				A16 Horne Block

				309–311 West Cordova Street

				N.S. Hoffar 1889
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				This Italianate caprice, flatiron in shape, was originally decorated with a classical cornice, half-moon pediment, balustrade, cast-iron filigree and a cupola that defined the one-bay corner where only a “Juliet” balcony survives. Vancouver City Foundry made the cast-iron storefronts, whose capitals display an “H,” not for the architect but for Toronto-born owner James Welton Horne, who arrived in 1885 and profited from real estate during the post-CPR boom.

				The abutting Springer–Van Bramer Block (301 West Cordova Street, N.S. Hoffar 1888), once known as the Masonic Temple for its tenants, is also Ital-ianate, angled to the street corner. As with the Horne Block, its weathered cornice was removed for public safety. The owners were tugboat captain James Van Bramer and Ben Springer, manager of the Moodyville sawmill on the North Shore.

				A17 Canadian Pacific Telecommunications Building

				175 West Cordova Street

				Francis Donaldson 1969
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				The architecture of this building was influenced by the “New Formalist” style, a pseudo-classical offshoot of modernism, expressed here with a vertically finned curtain wall that turns the street corner gracefully. It is one of two structures by Donaldson (H29) for Project 200, proposed by Marathon Realty, department stores Woodward’s and Simpsons-Sears and Grosvenor-Laing Investments, inspired by the sweep-the-old-stuff-away mania of post-WWII urban redevelopment.

				A18 Flack Block

				163 West Hastings Street

				William Blackmore 1900; Acton Ostry Architects, Donald Luxton & Associates 2008
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				Thomas Flack struck it rich in the Klon-dike, sold his claim and expressed his good fortune in this Richardsonian Romanesque commercial block. The tripartite,granite façade with twin-columned articulation commands the corner facing Court House (now Victory) Square. Time was not kind to its status as a preferred location for lawyers, mining, logging and insurance brokers, gold dealers and retail tenants. When developer Robert Fung’s Salient Group took it over, a marijuana grow-op and rooms of stolen goods were discovered, and misguided modernization had destroyed the ground floor and cornice.

				Hastings Street was massively (for the time) redeveloped in the late 1940s, just after WWII. Many shops were rehabbed with modern glass-and-aluminum storefronts and neon signs. The lower part of the terracotta and brick-faced Ormidale Block (151 West Hastings Street, G.W. Grant 1900), also Richardsonian, was altered in this way. The Flack Block shows how such buildings can be revived. Salient’s thorough and tasteful renewal included seismic and mechanical and electrical system upgrades, as well as a steel-and-glass rooftop addition. The elevator cage within the staircase was retained as a memory. The name was restored to its position above the cornice and to the main entrance, where the long-lost sandstone archway was accurately reconstructed.

				A19 Dominion Building

				207 West Hastings Street

				J.S. Helyer & Son 1910; Read Jones Christoffersen engineers 1998
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				The Imperial Trust Company promoted this steel-frame, brick- and terracotta-clad extravaganza as “an object of pride to every citizen [of the] most prosperous go ahead commercial city on the continent.” The firm promptly went bust, and its debt was taken over by Dominion Trust, which finished the colourful landmark, briefly the tallest office building in the British Empire. The roofline looks French and the elevations are flamboyantly classical, in the early skyscraper manner. Two titanic granite columns mark the main entrance, which is recessed and richly appointed. The interior retains its marble, terrazzo and wood finishes and ten-storey staircase.

				A20 The Cenotaph

				Victory Square

				George Lister Thornton Sharp 1924; Pechet & Robb 2002
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				Soldiers, sailors and aircrew killed in two world wars are commemorated by this obelisk, which follows the precedent established with the Cenotaph in London (Sir Edwin Lutyens 1920). Lutyens’s cenotaph is four sided in response to the urban design of Whitehall; Sharp’s three-sided version reflects the shape of Victory Square, a recruiting ground during WWI and where Remembrance Day ceremonies are held. The Cenotaph’s “steel” helmets and formality inspired Pechet & Robb’s Victory Square Lighting Project, a public realm enhancement encouraged by the Friends of Victory Square.

				A21 The Architecture Centre

				440 Cambie Street

				Alfred Arthur Cox 1911; Busby + Associates Architects, Roger Hughes Architects, Robert G. Lemon Architecture & Preservation, Rockingham Engineering 1988
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				This truncated Chicago Style building was built for Edgett Brothers, retail and wholesale grocers. It was linked, in 1924, by a bridge across the alley to the Province Building (198 West Hastings Street, Cox & Amos 1909), home of The Province newspaper, for which it became the printing plant. (The Province Building, originally the Carter-Cotton Building, for the publisher of the News-Advertiser, is full-blown Chicago Style.)

				Glass block lights on the sidewalk and a modern entrance are a clue to changes inside the old printing plant, where floors were opened up for an atrium, offices and public exhibition space for the Architectural Institute of B.C. In the boardroom, a 2-ton steel truss replaced a concrete column taken out to create a workable space. The truss, exposed along with fragments of the column to show how it was done, is a metaphor for whole approach, which was rational and remains visible. The old elevator hoist in the skylight shows the position of the shaft that was removed; high-tech fittings are a perfect foil to the original concrete, distressed from years of pressmen’s knocks.

				A22 Vancouver Community College Downtown Campus

				250 West Pender Street

				Sharp & Thompson, Berwick, Pratt 1949
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				Robert Berwick and C.E. “Ned” Pratt, trained in modernism at the University of Toronto, joined the established office of Sharp & Thompson in 1945. The buildings that followed gained the firm a reputation as the most progressive in Canada (H48). The downtown campus of VCC (opened as the Vancouver Vocational Institute) was one of the city’s first International Style designs, with characteristic clean lines inspired by the seminal Bauhaus, itself a vocational school in Germany (Walter Gropius 1926). Three classroom blocks were positioned to create a sunlit courtyard. The original ele-vations and twin glazed stairs offset by symmetrical brick corners are intact.

				A23 Sun Tower

				100 West Pender Street

				William Tuff Whiteway 1912; Ted Murray Architect, Donald Luxton & Associates 2011
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				The World Building, as this was first called, summed up Vancouver’s Edwardian boom with an exclamation mark—a tower capped by a French Second Empire dome, from where the Michigan-born publisher of the Vancouver World, Louis Denison Taylor, could survey the city he would rule with Citizen Kane–style populism as a long-serving mayor. “There is no limit to the possibilities of this city,” he once declared. His tower succeeded the Dominion Building (A19) as the tallest in the British Empire. A huge globe was mounted on the dome. The terracotta caryatids supporting the podium’s cornice were cast in England and later inspired the name of the Nine Maidens Restaurant, from where their Rubenesque proportions could be admired.

				The World was absorbed by The Vancouver Sun, which occupied the “Sun Tower” from 1935, adding a huge neon sign, recalled by “newspaper row” ex-reporter and author Pierre Berton as “electric blue; you could see it all over town.” The Sun (with The Province) relocated to 6th and Granville in 1965; both papers moved back downtown, to Granville Square (H29), in 1997 and their printing to a new plant in Surrey.

				A24 Five-Fifty Beatty

				550 Beatty Street

				1906; Bruno Freschi 1981
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				A continuous row of Edwardian warehouses created this muscular streetscape, now lined with lofts behind the elevations. The trendsetter was Five-Fifty Beatty, a conversion of the Johnston Terminals warehouse by developer Robert MacIntyre, who was inspired by artists’ lofts in SoHo, the old garment industry district in New York. Behind its postmodern façade, original big spaces were adapted and brick walls and timber posts and beams retained. The project was the first in the city to convert a heritage building to strata apartments, aimed at reversing the decline of this downtown edge.

				Freschi’s influence lingers all along the street, particularly at the timber-framed Bowman Block (528 Beatty Street, 1906; Gair Williamson Architects 2007), where floor plates were cut back from the front elevation to make two-storey lofts, with a modern two-storey roof addition set back to add floor space while preserving the heritage streetscape.

				A25 Woodward’s Redevelopment

				151 West Hastings Street, 108–128 West Cordova Street

				Various architects 1903–71; Henriquez Partners Architects 2010
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				Retail pioneer Charles Woodward built a flagship department store (W.T. Whiteway 1903) at Hastings and Abbott, with additions over the next seventy years covering most of the block. When the store closed in 1993, owing to the failure of the corporation, it had become a sad relic of the Downtown Eastside’s days as a business and transit hub (A29). The loss of the store highlighted the area’s social problems. The “Woodward’s Squat” in 2002, in which many of the neighbourhood’s homeless people occupied the store for months, protested these and the neglect of the district and raised awareness of its need for affordable housing.

				In an attempt to jump-start revitalization, the City of Vancouver bought the Woodward’s site in 2003. City councillor and activist Jim Green had long promoted the idea that redevelopment should serve the existing community and sustain the memory of Woodward’s. Architect Gregory Henriquez and developers Westbank/Peterson Group responded with “a real village on one super-block” comprising three new building blocks and the rehabilitated original 1903–08 building. The project and its inclusive social ideals got a popular stamp of approval when the condos in the flatiron “W” Tower, evoking memories of the Dominion Building (A19), presold in one day in 2006.

				Architecture dominates this utopian vision of homes and workplaces where people of all ages and incomes might co-exist harmoniously. The built form accommodates two hundred social housing units, five hundred market condos, Simon Fraser University’s School for the Contemporary Arts, offices for the City and for non-profit groups, a daycare centre, retail, a bank (the first major bank to open in the area in a half-century) and federal government offices. Heritage and amenity density bonuses enabled the huge amount of floor space—about one million square feet.

				The vertical and horizontal integration of this complexity is deft: the urban design, with sidewalk access points penetrating to a large atrium, opens the block to public passages, and green credentials are made visible on the “W” Tower’s steel “eco skeleton,” intended as a green wall. The two extant façades and the internal structure of the timber-framed, brick-faced heritage building were retained, with its period cornice and the painted names of the retail departments restored (Commonwealth Historic Resource Management, Jonathan Yardley Architect). The iconic “W” sign and tower, too deteriorated to reuse, were rebuilt on top of it, and the original “W” was preserved in its rusted condition on the Cordova Street plaza. An interpretative program including the sidewalk display windows and reuse of salvaged fragments from the old building—and calling the supermarket “Woodward’s Food Floor”—ensures that residents and users understand the heritage of the site and the neighbourhood. The glazed atrium features a huge photomural of the 1971 Gastown Riot (Stan Douglas 2009).

				Woodward’s Parkade (125 West Cordova Street, 1957; Henriquez Partners Architects 2005), part of the city-owned Gastown Parkade (A8), was rebuilt to feel safer and be more user friendly and was linked by a new bridge to the redevelopment.

				A26 Paris Block

				53 West Hastings Street

				Hooper & Watkins 1908; Gair Williamson Architects 2010
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				The ground floor was once occupied by boot maker and shoe retailer Pierre Paris, an immigrant from the Basque region of southwest France; the Strathcona Hotel had the upper floors. Ghost signs on the exterior walls remained, along with a much altered façade. The revitalizing—some say gentrifying—influence of the Woodward’s project is evident in the conversion to condos. The building’s clear-span I-beams and brickwork were retained à la mode; the savoir faire includes a chic annex (Gair Williamson 2012), clearly contemporary but scaled to coordinate with the old building. Another revival is at 43 West Hastings (1899), where Save-on-Meats (1957–2009) was reopened (2011) by restaurateur Mark Brand as a deli-diner complete with the original flying pig neon sign.

				A27 Portland Hotel

				20 West Hastings Street

				Nick Milkovich Architects, Arthur Erickson 1999
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				The non-profit Portland Hotel Society(PHS) drove this project forward, with various government agencies. The archit-ects came on board after the PHS, which accommodates many of the Downtown Eastside’s “hard to house,” called Erickson, whose designs for the privileged are better known. The response rejected the brick-faced heritage look in favour of metal cladding, with bay windows contextual with those on the Pennsylvania Hotel (see next entry). The bays, which divide above a cornice, animate the utilitarian elevation, which is duplicated at the rear, as is the mansard roof. There are eighty-six single room occupancy (SRO) units, with residents supported by on-site staff. Cornelia Hahn Oberlander designed the back-court garden.

				A28 Pennsylvania Hotel

				412 Carrall Street

				William Tuff Whiteway 1906; Merrick Architecture, Donald Luxton & Associates 2008
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				San Francisco urbanism ripples on the façades of what was originally the Woods Hotel, a classy hostelry-turned–SRO hotel. It has been completely rehabilitated, with façades restored for the Portland Hotel Society, which provided forty-four safe, clean bachelor suites for the needy. The Downtown Eastside was Vancouver’s “Skid Road” (a loggers’ term from the wood “skids” on which logs were rolled), which morphed from a haven for transient loggers to one for the transient poor. This building’s revival, besides the social benefits, saw the replication of a long-removed corner turret and a 1920s neon sign with the hotel’s later name. The Carrall Street entrance, previously boarded up, is first class—Romanesque Revival and original.

				Around the corner is the Only Seafoods neon sign (1950), on the former Brunswick Pool Room (20–26 East Hastings Street, H.A. Hodgson 1911). It’s a classic diner, established by two Greek brothers; the “Only” dates from 1916. It changed hands around 1992 and closed in 2009, after police alleged drugs were being dealt on the premises. The sign was removed, restored (Pattison Sign Group 2011) and returned to its original location for the Portland Hotel Society, which has leased the restaurant.

				A29 B.C. Electric Railway Company Building

				425 Carrall Street

				Somervell & Putnam 1912; Sharp & Thompson 1945
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				B.C. Electric’s interurban tram network, once the most extensive in Canada, was run from this head office and depot. Trams ran into the terminus through a clear span on Hastings Street; the first two arches on the Carrall Street arcade were open to the station concourse. The structure, with steelwork “fire-proofed” with concrete, was preloaded for additional storeys (one was added in 1945). The building accommodated three hundred workers. The company was the biggest employer in the area, whose decline was accelerated when the interurban services to the terminus ceased in 1955, and to the region in 1958 (also the year North Vancouver ferries, which docked at the foot of Columbia Street, stopped sailing). In the 1990s, the BCER Building was adapted for high-tech and media tenants.

				The same architects’ Merchants Bank (1 West Hastings Street, 1913), a neoclassical pile of faded grandeur facing pocket-size Pigeon Park, was also designed for additional floors. The end of the Edwardian boom prevented any. The façade detailing is exceptionally fine. The building’s steel frame was angled to avoid the CPR spur line from Burrard Inlet to rail yards at False Creek. Steam locomotives crossed Hastings Street at this point until the Dunsmuir Tunnel was opened in 1931. The City’s Carrall Street Greenway, which follows the eastern boundary of the Granville townsite, revives the route as a pedestrian and cycle link between the creek and the inlet (in the 1860s, it was possible to paddle a canoe between the two at high tides).

				A30 The Warehouse Studio

				100 Powell Street

				N.S. Hoffar 1887; Don Stuart Architect 1991; Davidson Yuen Simpson Architects 1999
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				Brothers David, Charles and Isaac Oppenheimer, members of a large family that hailed from Germany, immigrated to the U.S. in 1848 and arrived in B.C. in 1858. Charles Oppenheimer & Company, provisions, was founded in Victoria around 1858, with a second store around 1860 at Yale, where riverboats dropped off prospectors headed for the Cariboo Trail. The company was renamed Oppenheimer Brothers in 1871, with David and Isaac as partners (by 1881, they controlled the business). They acquired land in Granville, and moved here about 1885 (David had joined a syndicate with contractor Andrew Onderdonk to raise money for the construction of part of the Canadian Pacific Railway, near Yale). By 1887, the assessed value of their holdings was the richest after Hastings Mill and the CPR. That year, they opened their wholesale grocery business in Vancouver. Both were acclaimed aldermen; David was elected the city’s second mayor, serving from 1887 to 1891, and was a major influence in the city’s development. He remained active in the civic and Jewish communities and is honoured in the name of Oppenheimer Park (C21) and at Stanley Park (I25). This warehouse, one of the city’s oldest structures (originally two storeys), was one of their ventures. It has been converted considerately, as a recording studio for another prominent Vancouverite, singer Bryan Adams.

				A31 Four Sisters Housing Co-operative

				133–153 Powell Street, 188 Alexander Street

				Davidson/Yuen Partners 1987
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				The architects won an AIBC award in 1988 for this innovative design, which was short-listed for the World Habitat Awards in 1991. The 153-unit, three-building complex for families, singles and seniors with low incomes was conceived by the Downtown Eastside Residents Association, founded in 1973 to improve living conditions in the area. Administered by the residents, the development includes a communal courtyard, adaptive reuse of heritage buildings and new construction.

				Across the street is the Smart Building (168 Powell Street, Busby Perkins + Will 2009). With apartments arranged around a south-facing deck to maximize natural light, it updates the West End courtyard model (H45). A smart fit in this historic area, it achieves a similar density to Vancouverism’s tower and townhouse formula, with which its developer, Concord Pacific, is normally associated (G19).

				A32 Vancouver Court Services (Provincial Criminal Court)

				222 Main Street

				Harrison, Plavsic & Kiss 1974
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				The traditional courthouse façade of cut stone and classical columns, seen at the old Provincial Courthouse at Robson Square (H50), was transcribed here—with a testimony from Le Corbusier—into concrete piers and walls without any loss of dignity, although an addition at Main and Powell seems a case for prosecution. Many police and magistrates’ courts spread around the area were centralized here. Nearby is the former Coroner’s Court (240 East Cordova Street, Arthur Julius Bird 1932), a Georgian Revival gem that became the Vancouver Police Museum in 1986.

				A33 Bruce Eriksen Place

				380 Main Street

				Henriquez Partners Architects 1998
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				Named for ironworker, city councillor and cofounder of the Downtown Eastside Residents Association Bruce Eriksen, this thirty-five-unit infill for the Main & Hastings Housing Society fits between the Public Safety Building (312 Main Street, Townley & Matheson 1953) and the Bank of Montreal (see next entry). Its structural frame rises from the sidewalk, with units recessed for balconies, a visual effect that mediates the gap between the neighbours. The façade has an agitprop photomontage (Blake Williams 1998) screen printed on ceramic tiles. The balconies are tiled with inspiring words. City planners grumbled that the art should be subject to the sign bylaw. Jim Green, the provincial coordinator for the project, said, it was “a poetic insight.”

				A34 Bank of Montreal

				390 Main Street

				Honeyman & Curtis 1930
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				Neoclassicism distinguishes this miniature “temple bank” with fluted Corinthian columns and a pedimented entrance. The pilasters along the sides are rendered in shallow bas-relief, typical of the modern classicism of the day. The bank’s coat of arms, with its fur trade imagery of Indians and a beaver above the entablature, adds a message and delight. The interior was refurbished in 1996 by Four Corners Community Savings, a short-lived initiative that gave low-income people fairer financial services than those provided by cheque-cashing marts and loan sharks.

				East of the bank is a lively heritage ensemble that includes the Ovaltine Cafe (251 East Hastings Street, 1942) in a former apartment building (A.J. Bird 1912). Across the street is the Beaux-Arts-style Royal Bank of Canada East End Branch (400 Main Street, Howard Colton Stone 1910).

				A35 Carnegie Community Centre 

				401 Main Street

				George William Grant 1903; Downs/Archambault 1980
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				Scottish-American steel magnate Andrew Carnegie funded libraries around the globe. Vancouver benefitted from his largesse. The resulting building housed the Vancouver Public Library until it left for Burrard Street (H46) in 1957 and the municipal museum from 1905 until it departed to Kitsilano Point (K1) in 1968. City Hall was located next door on Main Street.

				Architect Grant had designed New Westminster Court House in the Roman-esque Revival style (N19) and varied it here with a dome, faintly Byzantine, and turned the Main and Hastings corner with a two-storey entrance flanked by two Ionic columns. Rusticated stone and round-arched windows on the façades are typical of the style. Not so the copper roof, which is inspired by French Second Empire buildings. After a campaign led by the Downtown Eastside Residents Association, the Carnegie became a community centre, with a post-modern addition on Main Street. The centre opened in 1980, a beacon on Skid Road. Users are greeted by portraits of Robbie Burns, Shakespeare and other writers in stained-glass windows (Henry Bloomfield & Sons 1903) set in the wall of its marble, spiral staircase.
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                Chinatown

			
				BRITISH Columbia’s Chinese population had its origins in the gold fever that lured prospectors from California to British Co-lumbia in 1858 and also in the recruitment of labour from the South China coast two decades later to build the Canadian Pacific Railway’s transcontinental line through the Rocky Mountains and Coast Range. Many Chinese workers later settled in Vancouver, where they found work in hotels, sawmills and canneries. They were allowed to build their community on the low neck of land between the False Creek tidal flats and Burrard Inlet, which flooded periodically. Even with this physical limitation, Vancouver’s Chinatown became an established community in the late 1880s. The first generation of buildings were wood-frame structures, many with distinctive recessed balconies, an architectural feature remembered from the homeland.

				
				The Chinese called Vancouver “Saltwater City,” a term evocative of sea air, the voyage many had made to reach the city and the bitter experience for many after arrival. Following their unsung (until recently) contribution to nation building by working on the CPR, Chinese labourers were viewed by Vancouver’s European working class as low-wage competition, which provoked anti-Oriental prejudice exploited by the press and politicians. In 1885 a federal “head tax” was levied on Chinese immigrants, and a full ban on immigration was in place from 1923 until 1947. Despite this persecution, the local Chinese merchant class grew and prospered. Its members kept the community together by funding schools and the benevolent society buildings that still stand on East Pender Street.

				The most serious threat to Chinatown—and to neighbouring Gastown and Strathcona—was a 1967 freeway plan that would have bisected the community and destroyed its social and architectural cohesion. The plan was halted by local outrage and opposition, which gained support from outside the areas that would have been affected. In 1971, Chinatown and Gastown were designated by the provincial government as historic districts, with every building listed for protection. The Chinatown Historic Area Pender Street Improvement Project (1979) introduced streetscape improvements with “Chinese” elements.

				Chinatown’s traditions and lifestyles were not always appreciated by new immigrants from Hong Kong and Mainland China who arrived in the late-twentieth century, a cultural bias that was resented by some in the local community, which had survived racism and hard times. Moreover, Vancouver’s Chinese-Canadian population vastly outgrew the neighbourhood. For new arrivals and many children of older Chinatown residents, the suburbs—particularly Richmond—offered a fresh start, with dream housing and glittering malls.

				Chinatown’s fortunes have since improved, partly the result of planning initiatives by the City, which have relaxed the need for strict adherence to heritage protection. The Vancouver-Chinese diaspora, Vancouver’s non-Chinese population and tourists alike patronize Chinatown businesses and appreciate the appealing buildings, restaurants and cultural amenities. At this critical point, the area’s historic urban scale and character may yet be threatened, not by the horizontal intrusion of the notorious freeway but by a vertical one—selective high-rise zoning to serve the mantra of “densification.”

			
					[image: vancity-06-B-01-landscape-09-01.eps]
				

				B1 Sam Kee Building

				8 West Pender Street

				Bryan & Gillam 1913; Birmingham & Wood 1966; Soren Rasmussen 1986
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				Famed by the Guinness World Records as the “world’s narrowest building,” this is a unique structure, 4 feet 11 inches deep on the ground floor; 6 feet 2 inches deep including the bay windows. It was the response of merchant Chang Toy (a.k.a. Sam Kee) after the City expropriated most of his property—a valuable corner location for his Sam Kee Company—to widen the street. The bay windows and an areaway (A4) maximized the space that remained. In 1966, architects Birmingham & Wood bought and restored the Sam Kee building “close to original condition.” It was their office when they worked on pioneering proposals to preserve Gastown’s and Chinatown’s architecture. Insurance agent Jack Chow bought it in 1986. Chow proved as pugnacious as Chang Toy. After he rehabilitated the building, the city increased his property assessment. Chow fought that but the city then taxed his bay windows. Finally, in 1988, council voted to waive all fees.

				The road widening that provoked Chang Toy was amplified in 1967 when City Council approved an elevated freeway through Chinatown. That prospect, linked to “slum clearance” in Strathcona (C2), sparked opposition from the Chinese and other communities. The “Strathcona freeway” was dropped: the “livable city” that is present-day Vancouver was born.

				The Chinatown Millennium Gate (Joe Y. Wai Architect 2002) celebrates the entrance to Chinatown. Shanghai Alley, just west of the Sam Kee Building, was given a public realm makeover (Joe Y. Wai 2002). The focal point is a plaza, Allan Yap Circle, with replica Han Dynasty bell gifted by the City of Guangzhou (once known as Canton) and interpretive panels that tell of Chinatown’s past.

				B2 Chinese Freemasons Building

				5 West Pender Street

				1907; Joe Y. Wai Architect, Commonwealth Historic Resource Management 2008
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				Chinatown was designated as a historic district (at the same time as Gastown) by the provincial government in 1971. This building’s façades show characteristics of both: Gastown’s Italianate on Carrall Street, Chinatown’s recessed balconies on Pender. Guangdong province was where the majority of B.C.’s Chinese immigrants came from. China was also the source of the recessed-balcony style of architecture (often with a sidewalk arcade in the home country, and in Southeast Asian cities with “overseas Chinese” populations).

				Philanthropist and former chancellor of Simon Fraser University, Milton Wong, bought this building (where his father had opened a tailor shop in 1913) and hired long-time Chinatown architect Joe Wai to rehabilitate it. Housing was fitted into the upper floors, and the ground floor is commercial, where a seismic brace, patterned like a Chinese screen, is visible. The interior had been gutted and replaced with a steel structure in 1975, so only the exterior elevations’ significant features could be conserved or restored. These include painted signage on the Carrall Street elevation and the window on the west elevation that reportedly illuminated the bedroom in which Dr. Sun Yat-Sen (B4) stayed in 1911.

				B3 International Village and International Village Mall

				88 West Pender Street (Mall)

				International Village Architects (Baker McGarva Hart, Davidson Yuen Simpson Architects, Downs/Archambault), Kirkor Architects 1990s–2011
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				Like a fusion chef trying to match flavours, this megaproject struggled with the blend. It mixed Vancouverism with the Hong Kong developer’s (Henderson Development) and Toronto architects’ (Kirkor) taste for globalizing additives. The marketing was “themed” with references from afar; the architecture could be anywhere.

				Unlike the Coal Harbour and False Creek projects (I36, G19), it does not have a waterfront advantage. It abuts Beatty Street’s backside, Pacific Boulevard, the Chinatown heritage district (to which planners wanted it to relate sensitively) and the Downtown Eastside. Its 21-acre site was part of the Expo Lands acquired by Concord Pacific Developments, which flipped it in 1989. The scheme includes a shopping mall, multiplex cinema, sidewalk retail, office space, a supermarket, parkades and almost 1,400 apartments (108 units subsidized, in the zigzag-canopied Sorella, 505 Abbott Street, Gomberoff Bell Lyon 2011) and the 10-acre Andy Livingstone Park. It was expected to revitalize the area, but few tourists or locals visited, and it had competition from Richmond’s Asian malls (N4). A reviving Chinatown—and the Woodward’s effect (A25)—may help it serve the eastside, to which its urban geography is connected (the developer ignored that).

				Solid urbanism was the project’s starting point: a pedestrian-oriented circular plaza (Paris Place) linked by Keefer Steps to Beatty Street and Stadium-Chinatown SkyTrain station; high-rises (and the Sorella) scaled to the Sun Tower and other buildings to the heritage height of Chinatown. The mall’s concourse is aligned as a memory of the CPR track that linked False Creek and Burrard Inlet (a fragment of track crosses West Pender Street at the north entrance to the mall). These attri-butes were a local, not global, base for the recipe.

				B4 Dr. Sun Yat-Sen Classical Chinese Garden

				578 Carrall Street

				Joe Y. Wai Architect; Don Vaughan landscape design 1986
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				Artisans from Suzhou employed traditional techniques and materials imported from China to construct this tranquil “scholar’s garden” based on traditional architectural and landscape design. Joe Wai described it “as an ever-changing universe which fluctuates between opposites, such as hard and soft, light and dark; to achieve harmony, such contrasts are included in the journey of life.” It was the first full-size Ming Dynasty–style garden outside China and is named for Dr. Sun Yat-Sen, prodemocracy leader and founder of the Kuomintang (nationalist) party (B16), who visited Vancouver to raise funds for the revolution of 1911 that overthrew the Qin Dynasty and created the Republic of China, of which he was the first president.

				B5 Chinese Cultural Centreof Greater Vancouver

				50 East Pender Street

				James K.M. Cheng Architects, Romses, Kwan & Associates, Don Vaughan landscape design 1981; Joe Y. Wai Architect 1998
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				A Wong Benevolent Association banquet in 1972 was the genesis of the centre, which includes a public park and the Dr. Sun Yat-Sen Classical Chinese Garden. The administration and education buildings were completed in 1980, followed by storefront space in 1981. WWII military volunteers and CPR workers are remembered on plaques at the entrance, which is fronted by the China Gate, refashioned with bas-reliefs (Arthur Cheng 2005); it was first erected outside the Chinese pavilion at Expo 86. The built form echoes traditional Chinese urbanism—walled, with an inner courtyard—rendered without overt imitation. The Chinese Cultural Centre’s Museum and Archives Building (555 Columbia Street, Joe Y. Wai 1998) is more conspicuous with a roof characteristic of the Ming Dynasty.

				Only one Chinese-Canadian architect (who was not accepted into the professional association) has been noted as working in Chinatown before WWII—W.H. Chow, whose Ming Wo Store (23 East Pender Street, 1914; store established 1917) and the similarly recessed-balcony-style Yue Shan Society Building (33–39 East Pender Street, 1920) still stand. Hidden behind the latter is an old-style courtyard and housing (34 Market Alley).

				B6 Rennie Collection at Wing Sang

				51 East Pender Street

				1889; T.E. Julian 1901; Walter Francl Architecture, mcfarlane green biggar, Robert Lemon Architect, Donald Luxton & Associates 2009
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				Three related but dissimilar buildings were converted as cohesive and serene spaces for condo marketer and arts patron Bob Rennie to house his private museum of international contemporary art and the business that funds it. The original Wing Sang Building—the oldest in Chinatown—accommodates a main-floor gallery that preserves the volume of the original structure and leads, through minimalist exhibition spaces, to a spacious rooftop sculpture garden.

				The Wing Sang Building was built for Guangdong-born Yip Sang, a gold panner and cook in California who moved to B.C. in 1881. He recruited Chinese labour for the CPR and was a passenger agent for the railway’s steamships to China. A rags-to-riches entrepreneur, he established the Wing Sang Company in 1888. A new bay-windowed block absorbed the original in 1901 and was connected to a tenement (1910) across an alley—a stereotypically “secret” Chinatown alley—where Yip Sang lived with his extended family. Part of the tenement’s brick wall was retained to divide gallery space, and as a memory of the alley. The curious door on the second floor of the 1888 building would have accessed a wooden verandah, either never added or undocumented. The Rennie Collection can be viewed by guided tour.

				B7 Chinatown Plaza

				180 Keefer Street

				Joe Y. Wai Architect 1995

				
					[image: B07_ChinatownPlazaCMYK.tif]
				

				Business leaders lobbied City Hall for this mixed-use, seven-level, nine-hundred-plus stall parkade to compete with the suburbs. It contains shops and a thousand-seat Chinese restaurant, the biggest in Canada. The elevations are postmodern, on Columbia Street evoking a Chinese city gate, with allusions on Keefer Street to recessed-balcony heritage façades. History and achievements of Chinese Canadians are noted on the Keefer Triangle, where statues of a railway worker and soldier flank the Chinatown Memorial Monument (Arthur Cheng 2003). The plaza’s bilingual neon sign (John Atkin 2010) evokes the 1950s, when neon seemed to light up every Chinatown block and advertise every eatery and shop.

				B8 The Keefer

				135 Keefer Street

				Sharp & Thompson 1910; Gair Williamson Architects, John Bryson & Partners engineers 2009

				
					[image: B08_TheKeeferCMYK.tif]
				

				False Creek’s tide rose and fell outside this former Vancouver Gas Company warehouse, a minor work by Sharp & Thompson, now a major style statement, with artworks by Douglas Coupland. The only liquid flowing now is in the ground floor bar, where lush design hints at the luxe life (and more liquid) upstairs—three full-floor suites, plus a penthouse with a steel-supported, glass-bottomed pool. Heritage features were preserved for the customary loft look. After the market collapse in 2008, owner Cameron Watt opened the upper floors as a boutique apartment hotel.

				B9 Chinese Benevolent Association

				108 East Pender Street

				1910; Joe Y. Wai Architect, Commonwealth Historic Resource Management 2010

				
					[image: B09_ChineseBenevolentAssociationCMYK.tif]
				

				Rusticated stone piers and decorative iron on the recessed balconies animate this façade in the Chinatown style, restored to original colours with assistance from the Vancouver Heritage Foundation and the City’s Heritage Incentive Program. The Benevolent Association, begun in 1895, was founded officially in 1906. Chinese clan and benevolent societies provided social services, accommodation and support for a community that was isolated from mainstream society and whose people were often valued only as a source of cheap labour. Perceived from a racist point of view as a threat to European-Canadian jobs, that labour force provoked a white protest in 1887 after contractor John “Chinese” McDougall hired Chinese workers to clear the forest in the West End; a march in 1907—incited with speeches in the Protestant Orange Hall (C23)—turned violent when crowds swept through Chinatown and on to Japantown (C18), vandalizing stores as they passed.

				B10 Mon Keang School

				121 East Pender Street

				J.A. Radford & G.L. Southall 1921

				
					[image: B10_MonKeangSchoolCMYK.tif]
				

				A lovely piece of stained-glass chinoiserie decorates the entrance to this atmospheric building, whose unaltered stairway ascends to rooms that resonate with the click-clack of mah-jong tiles. The mezzanine “cheater storey” was designed for extra floor space without incurring property tax. The façade is a reconstruction of a 1904 structure, with two storeys and recessed balconies added by the Wong Benevolent Association, whose name appears on a curved pediment above the cornice. The Mon Keang School (the first in Canada to offer classes at high-school level in Chinese) opened here in 1925; children attended after their regular school days.

				The adjacent Lee Building (127–131 East Pender Street, 1907; Henriquez & Todd 1973) also patterns the streetscape with recessed balconies. The original façade was reconstructed as a free-standing screen after a fire; a modern structure was erected behind and includes a cozy courtyard. This “façadist” approach to heritage revitalization, in varied forms, has become popular (if disapproved by many in the heritage sector) and can be profitable.

				B11 Chin Wing Chun Society

				160 East Pender Street

				Robert A. McKenzie 1925

				
					[image: B12_VanCityChinatownCommunityCMYK.tif]
				

              
				Chinatown’s recessed balcony style—also found in Victoria and San Francisco—was often embellished or stacked with Western features, here a crescendo of Tuscan columns, classical mouldings and a prominent pediment. The building is a hybrid, rather like present-day Vancouver, with its blend of Euro- and Asian-Canadian business, culture and history. Architect McKenzie could claim knowledge of both societies, having worked for more than five years in northern China.

				B12 Vancity Chinatown Community Branch

				188 East Pender Street

				Birmingham & Wood 1971

				
					[image: B12_VanCityChinatownCommunityCMYK.tif]
				

				Built for the Bank of Montreal, this is a sensitive reworking of the Chinatown built form, filling a deep narrow lot, visible here because of the lane. It incorporates a tiled roof (used on temples and other buildings) between walls. Its scale and depth echo nineteenth- and early-twentieth-century shophouses, an Asian building-type often decorated with Chinese and Western features, with the family living above the store. The architects’ office was in Chinatown (B1), and they acquired intimate knowledge of its architecture, as this gem of a building shows. It is neither a pastiche nor patronizing.

				B13 Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce

				501 Main Street

				Victor Daniel Horsburgh 1915

				
					[image: B13_CanadianImperialBankofCommerceCMYK.tif]
				

				Four stupendous, banded columns rise to a classical pediment on this unconventional elevation. A caduceus (a winged staff with entwined snakes), once a symbol of commerce, appears on the pediment. Horsburgh was from Edinburgh, but he saw nothing in that city to spark this improbable design, which would be at home in the colonial grandeur of Shanghai’s Bund. He was based in Toronto, where he was the chief architect of Dominion Realty, a subsidiary of the bank. The supervising architect in Vancouver was W.F. Gardiner, an Englishman, a WWI hero and a future president of the Architectural Institute of B.C.

				B14 HSBC Building

				608 Main Street

				W.T. Leung Architects 1995

				
					[image: B14_HSBCBuildingCMYK.tif]
				

				This confident addition to the historic streetscape marked a revival of Chinatown’s sagging fortunes, as did Chinatown Plaza (B7). Its recessed balconies acknowledge the area’s heritage, while the bay windows and a cornice relate to those on Keefer Rooms (c. 1912) across the alley. The cylindrical corner feature, which can be compared with the Carnegie Centre (A35), strengthens the urban scale, turning the corner more forcefully than the likable three-storey Victorian building, home of On-On Tea Gardens, it replaced.

				B15 Murrin Substation

				721 Main Street

				McCarter & Nairne 1947

				
					[image: B15_MurinSubstationCMYK.tif]
				

				The B.C. Electric Company operated Vancouver’s power and transit systems until 1961, when it was nationalized and became B.C. Hydro. Its pride in its purpose is shown in the quality of the architecture here—functionally a concrete box but with delightful decor applied. Two Art Deco doorways display chevron and swash mouldings; panels flash with flames and bolts of electricity to symbolize the power generated inside. Variegated brickwork and fluted pilasters add texture to the façades, which are strongly composed, classical and dignified. The substation was named for company president W.G. Murrin.

				B16 Nationalist League (Kuomintang) Building

				525 Gore Avenue

				William Edwardes Sproat 1920

				
					[image: B16_NatlionaalistLeagueBuildingCMYK.tif]
				

				The Chinese Nationalist League, a.k.a. the Kuomintang, was founded in 1905 by Dr. Sun Yat-Sen (B4); it survives as the government of Taiwan. This was the league’s Western Canadian headquarters, financed by Chinese Canadians inspired by Sun Yat-Sen’s vision of a democratic China. The architect introduced contextual features to the concrete, brick-faced structure, with arches that were originally open with recessed balconies and a Chinese pagoda-style turret, since removed, at the corner.
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